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PROCEEDINGS
(9:01 a.m.)

CHAIRMAN WINOKUR: Good morning. My name is
Peter Winokur, and I am the Chairman of the Defense
Nuclear Facilities Safety Board. I'll preside over
this public meeting and hearing, which is a
continuation of the hearing initially convened in
Kennewick, Washington, on March 22, 2012.

Today's focus concerns the status of actions
related to the Department of Energy's implementation
plan for the Board's Recommendation 2011-1, Safety
Culture at the Waste Treatment and Immobilization
Plant.

I'd now like to introduce my colleagues on
the Safety Board. To my immediate right is Ms. Jessie
Roberson, the Board's Vice Chairman. To my left is
Dr. John Mansfield. Next to him is Mr. Joseph Bader.

We four constitute the Board.

The Board's General Counsel office is
represented by Mr. John Batherson, seated to the left
of Mr. Bader. Our Deputy General Manager, Ms. Debra
Richardson, is seated to my far left. The Board's
Technical Director, Mr. Timothy Dwyer, is seated to my
far right.

Several members of the Board staff closely
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involved with oversight of the Department of Energy's
Defense Nuclear Facilities are also here. Today's
meeting and hearing was publicly noticed in the
Federal Register on March 8, 2012. The meeting and
hearing is held open to the public per the provisions
of the Government in the Sunshine Act.

In order to provide timely and accurate
information concerning the Board's public and worker
health and safety mission throughout the Department of
Energy's defense nuclear complex, the Board is
recording this proceeding through a verbatim
transcript, video recording and live video streaming.

The transcript, associated documents, public notice
and video recording will be available for viewing in
our public reading room in Washington, D.C. In
addition, an archive copy of the video recording will
be available through our website for at least 60 days.

Per the Board's practice and as stated in
the Federal Register notice, we will welcome comments
from interested members of the public at the
conclusion of testimony at approximately 11:30 a.m.
this morning. A list of those speakers who have
contacted the Board is posted at the entrance to this
room. We have generally listed the speakers in the

order in which they have contacted us or if possible
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when they wish to speak. I will call the speakers in
this order and ask that speakers state their name and
title at the beginning of their presentation.

There is also a table at the entrance to
this room with a sign-up sheet for members of the
public who wish to make a presentation but did not
have an opportunity to notify us ahead of time. They
will follow those who have already registered with us
in the order in which they have signed up. To give
everyone wishing to make a presentation an equal
opportunity, we ask speakers to limit their original
presentations to five minutes. The Chair will then
give consideration for additional comments should time
permit.

Presentations should be limited to comments,
technical information or data concerning the subjects
of this public meeting and hearing. The Board members
may question anyone making a presentation to the
extent deemed appropriate. The record of this
proceeding will remain open until June 23, 2012.

I would like to reiterate that the Board
reserves its right to further schedule and regulate
the course of this meeting and hearing to recess,
reconvene, postpone or adjourn this meeting and

hearing and to otherwise exercise its authority under

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended.

Let me provide some additional background
for today's hearing. The Board chose to hold two
hearings in the last 18 months at the Hanford site
because of the essential role the Waste Treatment
Plant will play in processing the large volume of
toxic and radioactive waste now stored in 177
underground tanks at Hanford.

The first hearing was held in October 2010
to better understand the project's progress towards
resolving technical issues dealing with mixing,
hydrogen control and safety basis development that
would jeopardize the safe and efficient operation of
the plant unless solved.

The Board's concerns with these technical
issues were broadened in December of 2010 to include
an investigation into the project's safety culture
after the Board received a letter from Dr. Walter
Tamosaitis, a former engineering manager at the
project. In this letter, Dr. Tamosaitis alleged that
he was removed from the project because he identified
technical issues that in his view could affect safety.

He further alleged that there was a flawed safety
culture at the project.

The Board's investigation concluded that the
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Waste Treatment Plant project suffered from serious
problems in safety culture and in the management of
safety issues. As a result, the Board issued
Recommendation 2011-1, Safety Culture at the Waste
Treatment and Immobilization Plant, on June 9, 2011,
identifying the need for prompt, major improvement in
the safety culture of the project.

From the Board's perspective, the flawed
safety culture at the Waste Treatment Plant is an
indicator that significant organizational weaknesses
may be adversely impacting the project's ability to
identify, address and resolve critical technical
issues which directly impact the ability of the plant
to treat waste safely and efficiently.

The Department of Energy accepted the
Board's recommendation and is executing a plan to
fully characterize and address the problems in safety
culture at the Waste Treatment Plant. The Department
has already taken several significant actions to
address the recommendation.

On December 5, 2011, Secretary Chu and
Deputy Secretary Poneman issued a memorandum to heads
of all Department of Energy elements that described
their expectations for nuclear safety in the

Department, including the roles and responsibilities,
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safety culture, standards and directives and
integrated safety management. The memorandum clearly
stated their commitment to "a strong and sustained
safety culture where all employees, from workers with
shovels in the ground to their managers, all the way
up to the Secretary and everyone in between are
energetically pursuing the safe performance of work,
encouraging a questioning work environment, and making
sure that executing the mission safely is not just a
policy statement but a value shared by all".
Additionally, DOE's [Department of Energyl
Office of Health, Safety, and Security [HSS] completed
a major independent assessment of safety culture and
the management of safety concerns at the waste
Treatment Plant. The HSS team issued its report,
entitled "Independent Oversight Assessment of Nuclear
Safety Culture and Management of Nuclear Safety
Concerns at the Waste Treatment Plant," in January
2012. It provides substantial insight into the
project's safety culture, its management of safety-
related issues and the relationship between the two.
The report gives an extensive list of
conclusions and recommends numerous specific
corrective actions. Earlier this month DOE provided

the Board with a detailed plan for addressing the
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findings of the HSS assessment as they relate to
safety culture at DOE's Office of River Protection at
Hanford. DOE is currently reviewing the equivalent
action plan that the Waste Treatment Plant contractor
has submitted.

As part of an effort to evaluate the safety
culture across all of DOE's defense nuclear
facilities, DOE's health, safety, and security
organization is also performing independent
assessments of four other major design and
construction projects, the Pantex plant and DOE's
Office of Environmental Management.

The review of the Chemistry and Metallurgy
Research Replacement project at Los Alamos is already
done and documented. Other sites, facilities and DOE
headquarters' offices will use training and guidance
developed under the implementation plan to perform
self-assessments with oversight by DOE's health,
safety, and security organization.

The Board held a second public hearing and
meeting on March 22, 2012, in Kennewick, Washington,
where the Board received testimony from the Department
of Energy and its contractors concerning several
issues that included the significance of the timely

integration of safety into the Waste Treatment Plant's
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10
design, the relationship between the resolution of
safety issues and development of a sound nuclear
safety strategy and the Department of Energy's
progress towards implementing the Board's
recommendation on fixing flaws in the project's safety
culture.

A significant conclusion of this hearing was
the strong linkage between safety culture and the
ability of a project like the Waste Treatment Plant to
surface, accept and resolve outstanding technical
issues that impact the plant's ability to clean up
legacy waste while ensuring adequate protection of the
public and the workers during its 40-year operational
life.

Today we will continue these discussions by
receiving testimony from senior Department officials
regarding their approach to addressing the broader
policy and programmatic issues associated with
Recommendation 2011-1 and their efforts to evaluate
the safety culture and other design projects, sites
and programs within DOE.

We will begin this session by receiving
testimony from the Honorable Daniel Poneman, Deputy
Secretary of Energy. In recognition of the

significance of the safety culture issues at the Waste
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11
Treatment Plant project, Secretary Chu designated
Deputy Secretary Poneman as the responsible manager
for the implementation of Recommendation 2011-1.

It's important to remember that safety
culture is an organization's wvalues and behaviors
modeled by its leaders and internalized by its members
that serves to make safety culture an overriding
priority. Leaders are the designers, modelers and
teachers of the culture. It's what the leaders say
and do that matters. So we are pleased to have the
Deputy Secretary with us today.

This morning we invite Deputy Secretary
Poneman to provide his views on the importance of a
healthy and robust safety culture, his assessment of
the state of safety culture across the DOE defense
nuclear complex and his views on what needs to be done
to address problem areas.

We will then hear testimony from Mr. Glenn
Podonsky, head of DOE's Office of Health, Safety, and
Security. Mr. Podonsky has testified many times
previously in public meetings held by the Board on
important topics such as federal safety management and
oversight policies, safety in design, and DOE's system
of safety directives.

Mr. Podonsky chartered the major independent
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12
assessment of safety culture and the management of
safety concerns at the Waste Treatment Plant project
that his health, safety, and security organization
completed in January of this year. This review is
serving as the model for the extent of condition
reviews of the safety culture at DOE's other major
facilities and projects.

Today we hope to hear from Mr. Podonsky
regarding the actions and assessments being undertaken
by DOE's health, safety, and security organization to
characterize safety culture across the DOE defense
nuclear facilities complex and the role that HSS,
Health, Safety, and Security, will play in evaluating
the effectiveness of the corrective actions being
implemented by DOE and its contractors.

We will then receive testimony from Mr.
David Huizenga, DOE's Senior Advisor for Environmental
Management, and Mr. James Hutton, the DOE
Environmental Management Chief Nuclear Safety Advisor,
to hear DOE's senior line management's view of the
causes of the identified problems with safety culture
and the management of safety issues and the path
forward to develop and carry out corrective actions.

Lastly, we are interested in lessons learned

thus far and line management's end-state vision for
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sustaining a healthy safety culture throughout the
DOE's defense nuclear complex.

This concludes my opening remarks. I will
now turn to the Board members for their opening
remarks. Ms. Roberson.

VICE CHAIRMAN ROBERSON: None, Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN WINOKUR: Dr. Mansfield.

DR. MANSFIELD: None at this time.

CHAIRMAN WINOKUR: Mr. Bader.

MR. BADER: None.

CHAIRMAN WINOKUR: This concludes the
Board's opening remarks. We have several
distinguished Department of Energy headquarters'
personnel with us today. At this time, I would like
to invite Deputy Secretary Poneman to provide his
statement on behalf of the Department of Energy.
Welcome, Mr. Secretary. If you have written
testimony, we'll be happy to enter it into the record.

MR. PONEMAN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Vice
Chairman Roberson, Dr. Mansfield and Mr. Bader. It is
a pleasure to be here today before you. Thank you for
inviting me and my colleagues here today to address
the Department of Energy's ongoing corrective actions
regarding safety culture concerns at the Waste

Treatment and Immobilization Plant and more broadly
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14
our ongoing effort to improve our safety culture
across the DOE complex.

Later I will be joined here by Glenn
Podonsky, director of the Office of Health, Safety,
and Security; Dave Huizenga, Senior Advisor for
Environmental Management; and Jim Hutton, Chief
Nuclear Safety Advisor in the Office of Environmental
Management. And my colleagues will elaborate later in
these proceedings on our efforts on our safety culture
as well as answer any other technical questions that
you all may have for them.

I would like to thank each and every one of
them not only for their willingness to testify today
but also for their leadership on responding to the
Board's recommendations and having done so much more.

I think in the interest of time, I may summarize my
written statement and appreciate your offer to have it
entered into the record, and I will proceed with a
little more dispatch.

In my time here with you today, I would like
to assure you of two things. First, the Secretary and
I are fully aware of the significant safety culture
concerns that have been raised at the Waste Treatment
Plant. As you know, I've been there several times

myself. Second, we are engaged in and are fully
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committed to the timely resolution of any and all
nuclear safety deficiencies within the Department, be
they cultural, managerial, contractual, design or
operational in origin. This holds true across the DOE
complex, including the National Nuclear Security
Administration and Office of Environmental Management,
and I reaffirm the Department's commitment here today.

As you know, in his response to Board
Recommendation 2011-1, the Secretary named the Deputy
Secretary as the official directly responsible for the
implementation plan, which as you indicated in your
opening remarks is testimony to the seriousness with
which the Secretary takes these issues. It shows his
level of commitment, and I can assure you that I take
the responsibility with the utmost seriousness.

The commitments made in the implementation
plan are significant and specific, and I hold myself
and our senior DOE managers accountable for making
sure that these commitments are met. After years of
safety culture review and discussion, I can say with
confidence that we have learned much and are committed
to taking action to rectify problems while applying
lessons learned from around the complex so that we can
prevent other problems from arising.

To achieve that end, we still have work to
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do in communicating our priorities and training
employees from top to bottom so that they always think
of safety as an integral part of our mission rather
than as an add-on to the mission, I think a view that
was well reflected in your opening statement, Mr.
Chairman.

To that end, I have directed HSS to review
our safety culture thoroughly and objectively in order
to obtain an accurate and comprehensive understanding
of the situation. We have been studying their reviews
and have taken a number of actions, including the
following steps: First, directing our senior managers
to encourage an open and questioning safety culture
and to fully solicit and welcome questions and
concerns. Second, assuring that we measure and
understand safety status and have current and reliable
data for informed decision-making to allow us to
identify when we have achieved success and when we
have not. And if I may add, this is always a
continuous journey of continuous improvement, as our
management principles make clear.

Third, reviewing our contracting and
technical issue resolution processes to understand how
they may be affecting safety and what changes are

necessary to promote a strong safety culture. And
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fourth, developing training for Department of Energy
federal and contractor senior leaders on establishing
and maintaining an open and collaborative work
environment within the Department.

Having reviewed the Board's Recommendation
2011-1 as well as our own analysis, the Department has
embraced the need for an intensified effort to assess
the Department's safety culture and to embed a strong
safety culture in all Department policies, programs
and personnel. I'd like to take this opportunity to
highlight our safety culture review and to describe
some specific steps we're taking to cultivate and
reinforce a strong safety culture, and I'm sure that
my colleagues will provide added detail and
reinforcement on these points.

The Board Recommendation 2011-1 and HSS's
January 2012 report, which is entitled "Independent
Oversight Assessment of Nuclear Safety Culture and
Management of Nuclear Safety Concerns at the Hanford
Site Waste Treatment and Immobilization Plant", are
complementary in many respects. Taken together, they
provide both a useful critique of safety culture at
WTP [Waste Treatment and Immobilization Plant] and
clear, definitive recommendations for corrective

action.
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I agree with that assessment. And the
Department will act on these recommendations. The HSS
report is a comprehensive investigation that
identifies meaningful opportunities to improve our
safety culture. The assessment focused on the two DOE
organizations with site-level line-management
responsibility for WTP, the Office of River Protection
and the DOE WTP project office, and a site contractor,
BNI [Bechtel National, Inc.], and its subcontractors.

Results of the assessment indicated that
most WTP personnel believe that safety is a high
priority. However, the expert review team cited three
significant safety culture deficiencies that must and
will be corrected. First, there is a reluctance to
raise safety concerns at ORP [Office of River
Protection] and BNI, and within some groups at BNI
there is fear of retaliation. Second, the approach to
safety and safety culture is highly proceduralized
across WTP and not yet internalized at all levels of
the organization. And third, WTP managers do not have
a full appreciation of the current safety culture or
the level of effort needed to foster a healthy safety
culture.

This independent report identifies the

issues the Department and its contractors must
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resolve. Plans for doing so are now in place, and we
will continue to take in data on the situation at WTP
and around the complex. As noted in Mr. Huizenga's
April 23 letter to you, Mr. Chairman, DOE will review
the approved HSS plans to determine if any additions
to the IP [Implementation Plan] are needed and will
develop any necessary additions with a goal of having
an addendum to the implementation plan reviewed for
consideration by the Secretary with a view towards
transmission to the Board by this coming July.

At WTP, both the Department and its
contractors are now working aggressively on the
corrective actions and necessary improvements in a
comprehensive, effective and timely manner. I have
directed BNI to address the HSS assessment report
recommendations and to update its nuclear safety and
quality culture plan accordingly in a letter I sent to
them in February. I will review the draft revision of
that plan to assure that it addresses the HSS
findings.

As described in Recommendation 2011-1, a
highly robust safety culture is critical to successful
design, construction, commissioning and long-term
operation of this vitally important waste remediation

program. I agree and am confident that a robust,
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qguestioning safety culture is critical to mission
success.

We have also initiated both independent
reviews and self-assessments at additional selected
large construction project sites, which you noted in
your opening remarks, Mr. Chairman. We will also more
fully evaluate DOE headquarters' organizations. An
expert team will gather additional information about
the role of headquarters' line-management
organizations and the safety culture and management of
safety issues at WTP and throughout the complex,
including NNSA [National Nuclear Security
Administration] activities. The result of these
assessments will include recommended next steps for
continuous improvements.

I would like with your permission, Mr.
Chairman, to address just a few additional topics.
The implementation plan for 2011-1 and any future
supplement is of course at the forefront of our
strategy for a strong safety culture, but there are
others that are worthy of note. 1In December of
2011 -- and I think you indicated this as well, Mr.
Chairman -- the Secretary and I cosigned a nuclear
safety memorandum to the heads of all departmental

elements and encouraged its broad dissemination
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throughout the department. A copy of this memorandum
was transmitted to the Board in January. In promoting
nuclear safety, the memorandum addresses the
Secretary's and my expectations for roles and
responsibilities, safety culture, safety through
standards and managing risk and integrated safety
management.

The Secretary and I have been very clear and
will continue to be that when a safety concern is
raised, it is not enough to consider it and move on.
We must respond back to the individual or individuals
raising a concern and let others know what action was
taken, if any, so that our employees and contractors
know that we take their concerns seriously and are
committed to responding to them.

The Secretary is also scheduled to return to
WTP this summer, where he will deliver remarks, meet
with workers and reiterate the importance of a robust
and questioning safety culture.

Last September, we revised our ISM
[Integrated Safety Management] guide, and I also well
recall, Mr. Chairman, the discussions that you and the
Secretary have had on the important subject of ISM.
The revised guide now includes a new section 6.4,

which first provides dedicated safety culture guidance
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for DOE line managers and contractor organizations
having responsibility for ISM systems and, second,
reinforces the issuance of clear and specific safety
culture attributes.

Appendix 10 to that guide derives from the
experiences of the commercial nuclear industry,
including the Institute for Nuclear Power Operations.

Analysis of this experience and research over the
past decade has identified supplemental safety culture
elements that may be helpful to focus attention and
action in the right areas to create a stronger safety
culture at the Department.

These elements also promote a shift from
compliance to excellence. They emphasize continuous
improvement and long-term performance, and they are
entirely consistent with the original intent of ISM.

In 2006, the Department established a formal
process for DOE and DOE contract employees to submit
Differing Professional Opinions. In July of last
year, we issued DOE Order 442.2 on Differing
Professional Opinions for technical issues involving
environmental safety and health technical concerns to
update this so-called DPO [Differing Professional
Opinion] process.

The revised order documents the DPO process

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

23
for employees to raise professional opinions on
environmental safety and health technical issues that
may differ from prevailing staff or management views
or from current practices. To emphasize the
importance of the DPO process, in March 2012, I issued
a memorandum to all DOE employees and contractors.
That memorandum reiterated that DOE expects its
federal and contractor managers to actively foster
complete and open evaluation and discussion of
technical issues related to the environment, safety
and health of employees and the public.

As part of our commitment to promote a
robust, open and questioning safety culture, we will
continue to actively encourage DOE employees and
contractors to take advantage of the many avenues
available to raise technical or other issues. For
example, we have established a new DOE DPO webpage
which lists the DPO managers to whom Differing
Professional Opinions should be sent and provides an
online DPO submittal process.

In early 2012, HSS completed the
establishment of the HSS nuclear safety site lead
program, which I'd now like to comment on. This
program facilitates improved targeting of safety-

related oversight activities based on operational risk
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and facility conditions. HSS site leads are carefully
selected, experienced nuclear safety professionals
assigned to monitor operations and activities at each
DOE nuclear facility. The knowledge obtained through
site lead operational awareness is utilized to make
informed decisions in selecting and prioritizing
independent oversight reviews that are tailored to the
site's conditions.

And finally, I would like to speak about the
Office of the Ombudsman. And in anticipation of our
hearing today, I just had an excellent session last
evening with our newly appointed Ombudsman, and I'm
very pleased to announce that this new office, which
is located in the Office of Economic Impact and
Diversity, is now up and running. It promotes the
early identification and resolution of issues to
promote the morale and productivity of the DOE
workforce. It provides informal dispute resolution
services to employees, supervisors and management
personnel regarding work-related concerns.

The office also proactively identifies areas
of systemic concern and makes recommendations on how
they can best be addressed. And I would like to note
with satisfaction that although it's a new office,

they're getting a lot of business, which is a good
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sign I think.

Now let me close with some personal
thoughts. As an organization tasked with one of the
nation's most critical missions, we at the Department
of Energy understand the fundamental make-or-break
challenges that our work entails. The safe and
successful execution of our mission greatly affects
our nation's safety and its security, and it demands
the very best of all of us year in and year out. That
is why it is so important to embed the commitment to
safety deeply in the culture of the DOE enterprise so
that it will be embraced by all who succeed us. Our
safety culture is critical to protecting and improving
the DOE legacy. We must not fail in this effort.

I will continue visiting the sites and
meeting stakeholders face to face to listen carefully
to the comments and concerns of both federal and
contractor employees as well as to reinforce to them
our message on safety culture. During these visits, I
will continue to seek out workers and encourage them
to give me firsthand unbiased opinions of our
performance, and we do this by asking their managers
not to be present to encourage candor. And I will
share those opinions without attribution of course

with the Secretary and our senior managers so that we
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can learn from them and respond accordingly.

The Secretary's message is clear, and our
senior managers and I will reinforce it whenever we
meet with stakeholders. And I'm now citing directly
with the Secretary's words, and I gquote, "The
Department has an unwavering commitment to maintain
safe and secure work environments for all federal and
contractor employees. Furthermore, we will ensure
that the Department's and contractors' operations do
not adversely affect the health, safety or security of
the surrounding communities or the nation".

I will continue to discuss our progress, Mr.
Chairman, with you, with the Vice Chairman, with the
distinguished members of the Board, and recognize the
Vice Chairman's role in her capacity as the Board's
lead for Recommendation 2011-1 in our regular
interactions. And as always, I invite you to contact
me directly if you have any concerns about these or
other activities falling under your jurisdiction that
involve our safety and our safety culture.

I would like to thank you, Mr. Chairman,
Madame Vice Chairman, distinguished members of the
Board, distinguished colleagues, for taking the time
to listen to these remarks on something that is of

pivotal importance to us all, and with that, I would

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

27
like to conclude, and I'm very happy to answer any
questions you may have.

CHAIRMAN WINOKUR: Well, first let me thank
you for your opening statement, and we're very
appreciative that you'll be available to answer some
questions from the Board. And the first question will
come from Ms. Roberson.

VICE CHAIRMAN ROBERSON: Good morning,
Deputy Secretary. Thank you. The letter that you
issued together with Secretary Chu in December of 2011
powerfully stated your intent to make sure that -- and
I want to quote -- "executing the mission safely is
not just a policy statement but a value shared by
all". How do you make sure that that communication
gets from the top floor of the Forrestal Building to
the contractors in the field? And how do you expect
that message will be reinforced over time so that they
understand it is not just a statement but an
expectation?

MR. PONEMAN: Thank you for the question,
Vice Chair Roberson. It is a challenge that requires
constant effort and reinforcement. We do it by the
Secretary and me, the Deputy Secretary, going out to
the field. We do it by having regular meetings of our

senior management. Every two weeks I host a meeting
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of all of our safety managers and reinforce it. Those
views are very clearly communicated to the contractor
as well. We are in direct and frequent contact with
our Federal Project Director out at WITP, with the ORP
leadership, and it's something that has to be
therefore repeated at each and every level.

So what the Secretary and I do at our level
then has to be repeated by the organizational leads
within headquarters and then out at the site. It is
not a job that is ever complete. It is a job that
requires constant reinforcement. And one of the most
powerful things to reinforce it is something that
actually I think was made very clear in the Chairman's
opening comments, which is our success in the mission
will not be achieved absent the full internalization
of the safety issue because if we can't do the job
safely, we have not done the job at all.

And so I think what you will see is a
continuous communications flow, and because it's very,
very important continually to assess what we are doing
to make sure that those things that were in that memo
are fulfilled, we will continue to do what we have
done before in terms of getting independent reviews,
making sure that there are multiple channels for

people to express their concerns. And this is
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something that we really focused on out at Hanford, so
there ought not to be just one channel. People ought
to feel a number of opportunities, whether it's a
matter of a Differing Professional Opinion, as we
spoke to a few minutes ago, or a matter of an
industrial safety concern.

So we have to communicate the message
continuously and clearly we have to continually assess
it. And we must never I think fall into the
complacency that says we're done, we can now move on
because we're never done because safety is inherently
a permanent feature of our effort.

VICE CHAIRMAN ROBERSON: So, Deputy
Secretary, you spoke about a couple of tools, the
Ombudsman's office, the HSS assessments for
construction projects. As we will both have different
jobs in years to come, what are the mechanisms that
you expect to be institutionalized as a result of your
efforts now to make sure that as time goes on the
Department can sustain the investment that's being
made now?

MR. PONEMAN: Madame Vice Chair, you've
cited a couple of them, and the institutionalization
part is critical because by nature, in these jobs, you

have people who continue for years and years, but you
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have people who come and go, so you have to have
something that has sunk its roots into the
organization. And I would say we would
institutionalize it through some of the mechanisms
that were cited in my opening remarks. The ISM
system, which already has I think developed robust
institutional momentum, is something that we've
refreshed and revived and have to keep teaching. And
as I've heard the Chairman remark in other instances,
it boils down to some very simple elements that are
consistent with common sense but need repeating
nonetheless.

So things like an ISM guide is very
important. Institutionalized ways to raise those
Differing Professional Opinions so it's not seen as
some kind of heterodox challenge to authority but
rather very much part of the warp and woof of a
guestioning culture.

Part of the institutionalization is by what
the British would just call common law, by having it
become part of the routine activity on the site where
people are always feeling comfortable to go to their
first-line supervisors or even beyond if they're not
getting the kind of responses that they need.

Finally, we have to make sure that we
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continue to set the direction from the top and that
the directions that we give aren't just sent out like
bread upon the water but that we continuously go back
and check. And so that is why, for example, we have
thus at this point institutionalized biweekly meetings
of the whole Department's senior leadership on safety
matters so that people are used to bringing things
forward.

So I have great confidence that something
like this which actually works and people end up
feeling addresses the concerns that have been raised
will then sink roots into the system because when
something works, people will continue it, no matter if
a particular incumbent comes or goes.

Those are a few of the things, Madame Chair,
that we are doing. But in no case would we even say
in terms of the institutionalization that we're done
because even the institutionalization itself could
become sclerotic if we don't renew it. So, to take an
example, if these biweekly meetings became ritualistic
recitations of things that just have been coming
through the inbox, that would not be what we're
talking about.

I guess one other thing I would say is in

terms of institutionalization, one of the things that
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we did after the HSS report and after Recommendation
11-1 came in was to set up a system whereby any
concerns could be expressed blindly through a variety
of channels, and we made sure that the Chief Nuclear
Safety Officer of the Department was responding to
these questions when they'd come up.

Without making any preliminary judgments on
the merits of the case, any concern that's expressed
to a first order has to be treated responsibly.

That's another institutionalized mechanism by which
right down to the deck plates, we make sure that there
are channels available to each and every individual in
our complex, not just at WTP but across the complex to
make sure their concerns not only can get expressed
but that there is a meaningful response to it that we
will follow up on.

VICE CHAIRMAN ROBERSON: Thank you. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN WINOKUR: Mr. Bader.

MR. BADER: Mr. Secretary, one of the things
that's intrigued me over my career is it's always been
obvious that you can have the best training, you can
have the best program in terms of safety culture, but
what is most important is what leaders actually do.

And you've mentioned a number of things that you and
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the Secretary are planning to do. It would seem to me
that one of the most important early indicators of
what you're planning to do is this effort to seek out
workers and encourage them, as you said in your
testimony, to give you firsthand unbiased opinions of
our performance and your willingness to share those
opinions. Could you describe a little bit how you
will be seen to perform this effort and to keep it --
how will you select people? Will they self-select?
How will you keep it completely anonymous?

MR. PONEMAN: Yes. That's a great question.
Well, I don't have to do this merely describing a
prospect because this is exactly what I did on my last
visit to Hanford, which was after we received 11-1.

First of all, this addresses only part of
what you were talking about, but I'll come back to the
other part. I went out to that park right in the
middle of the city on the river and they got a little
bandshell called the Fingernail or something like
that. There were like 2,000 people, 2,000 people who
came out there just to hear me talk about safety.
That told me right there that there was a hungry
audience for the message.

I then went to the site and I talked to on

the order of 1,500 workers or more to convey the same
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message, and I was very, very clear in those remarks,
Mr. Bader, about the importance of an open and
questioning culture and the importance of being able
to step forward without fear of retribution.

Then I had two separate sessions with two
different kinds of workers. One were just absolutely
the frontline workers, and one was one level up in
terms of supervision because we wanted to have a
different opportunity because the concerns that are
felt at the different levels may not necessarily be
the same, and it may not be that the people at the
absolute frontlines would even be comfortable in front
of their first-line supervisors.

There are a lot of different trades out
there, as you know, at the site, and so one of my
lessons learned out of that is we have to make sure
that in terms of the selection of the workers that it
is a sufficiently representative/random process so
that you're actually getting frontline comments. And
that's something to be honest that I think we're going
to have to keep working on to make sure that there is
not any kind of unintended bias in terms of the
demographic of the people who are brought into these
groups. But to a first order, if you have five or six

different trades there, you get a handful of people
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from each, that should give you a fair representation.

Finally, there is an old phrase -- I think
it may go back to the time of President Lincoln --
called management by walking about. If you're just
walking around getting tours, which I get all the
time, I always do this. You just ask questions to
whoever you see. And then I think you are getting a
pretty decent chance of getting an unscripted response
from somebody who has not been preselected.

But again, like everything else, Mr. Bader,
that I'm talking about this morning, there is no
single-point solution to this, but it's a matter of
iteration and continually striving to make sure that
we're meeting with a broad cross-section of people.

I guess the final thing I would say is that
it's not necessarily in the face-to-face sessions
only, but when people -- I found this actually
encouraging when I made these comments in the park.
There were, you know, a flurry of comments and
concerns that came in. To me, you know, the good news
in that was that people would step forward. They
apparently believed they were able to do so without
retribution. But the fact that they may have felt up
until that point some inhibition in doing so told me

that in fact we do have work to do.
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MR. BADER: I think if you are making
yourself available on an individual basis in a
controlled situation where the workers feel free and
comfortable to come and talk to you and explain any
issues they have, I think that is a powerful
statement. Is that something you embrace?

MR. PONEMAN: That is what I did when I was
out there, and I will encourage Secretary Chu when he
goes to have the same kind of session.

MR. BADER: And you plan to continue to do
that when you go out again?

MR. PONEMAN: We view this as a journey, and
it's a continuous effort.

MR. BADER: Have you taken any actions to
try and determine for yourself what impact has
actually occurred already in terms of changes to the
safety culture at WTP?

MR. PONEMAN: I still think we are in early
phases of implementing. But part of our plan going
forward, Mr. Bader, is in fact a continuous repetition
of assessments. There I think it's very important
that we not only have questions coming directly from
the leadership but that we do what we did, for
example, at the last HSS review, which is to bring

professional outside people who have expertise in the

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

37

area. It's not enough for us to check ourselves,
although we are responsible for doing so and we will
continue to do so aggressively, but precisely to make
sure that we're getting an unvarnished view, we will
also continue to use neutral third parties to review
our efforts, and this will measure the extent to which
the message we're communicating is received.

Many people will ask about a particular
report and say what is your conclusion. I view each
of these reports as a data point, as a snapshot. I
think it was perhaps Santayana who talked about, you
may stick your toe in the river and, you know, feel
the water there, and you may wait 10 minutes and you
put your toe in the river, it's a different river
because the molecules keep flowing by.

So we have to keep monitoring from time to
time directly. We have to keep checking the inbox for
the places that people are putting in and expressing
their concerns to our chief nuclear safety officer.

We have to keep doing the vox populi sessions where
we're talking to people face-to-face, eye-to-eye. And
we've got to keep validating any and all of those
impressions by neutral third-party assessments.

MR. BADER: Thank you, Mr. Secretary.

CHAIRMAN WINOKUR: Welcome again. I'd like
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to talk a little bit about NNSA, the National Nuclear
Security Administration. And I think in your opening
comments you did mention that this is about more than
just the Environmental Management folks in the Waste
Treatment Plant. It's a complex-wide issue. And
certainly NNSA has incredible responsibility and also
a lot of production pressures. I mean, they're making
pits at Los Alamos and secondaries at Y-12, and
they've got the basic assembly and disassembly,
surveillance of weapons at Pantex.

So I guess the first question might be any
sense so far about NNSA in terms of safety culture.
Do you think the efforts are going to have to be
equivalent there as they are in EM [Environmental
Management] , or any particular concerns or challenges
you see in terms of the safety culture at the NNSA?

MR. PONEMAN: Mr. Chairman, one of the
elements of the vantage of being in a situation of
viewing the full complex is although there are unique
elements to each aspect of the challenge, I think the
overall safety challenge and the cultural issues that
accompany it I think are department-wide. So I would
say a) there continue to be and will always be safety
issues in the NNSA complex, just as they are in EM;

b) that therefore the importance of the same kind of
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open questioning culture is as important there as it
is in the EM portfolio.

And I can tell you that in my conversations
with -- and I will say in this context --
Undersecretary for Nuclear Security Tom D'Agostino,
which is the way in which he is now responsible for
the EM portfolio, as well as Administrator D'Agostino
of the NNSA, same guy, and very committed to both
safety per se and to safety culture.

CHAIRMAN WINOKUR: So NNSA obviously is
clearly very engaged in this activity.

MR. PONEMAN: Yes.

CHATRMAN WINOKUR: One of the challenges I
see and I wanted to know if you've given any thought
to is a place like Los Alamos, incredibly important
place. And yet it's got production responsibilities
building pits. At the same time, it's a great R&D
organization. Do you think there will be any
particular challenges with building a safety culture
in an organization that that's diverse?

MR. PONEMAN: There always are, Mr.
Chairman, and, you know, there are always those kinds
of challenges. That's why on a tough challenge like
this I always think it's important to go back to first

principles, and the first principle here is that
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safety is not a bolt-on. Safety is an integral part
of the mission. The objective isn't to simply extend
the life of the W76. 1It's to extend the life safely.

And one thing that one learns is equally true if not
more true in a production situation than any other is
there is nothing that can shut down your production
faster than encountering a serious safety problem.

So in fact, to embed the safety culture in a
production complex is not only the right thing to do,
but it's actually the efficient and effective thing to
do if you're trying to advance the mission. Safety is
an integral part of the mission, and only by treating
it that way do you maximize your prospects of living
up to the demands that, as you indicated, the
President and the nation put upon you in terms of
continuing to defend the nation with a safe, secure
and effective nuclear deterrent.

CHAIRMAN WINOKUR: Do you think it will be a
tad more difficult, though, on the R&D side of the
house to build this safety culture?

MR. PONEMAN: I think it's challenging
everywhere. I think the challenges are probably
unique. You know, it's interesting because just
within the last week I was having a discussion with

Secretary Chu and we were talking about the unique
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safety challenges faced in a situation where you're
dealing with accelerators. So even in a pure science
space, the consequences for inattention to safety can
be grave and immediate. And so I think while there
are unique challenges, whether it's in the research
side or the production side, I think that we're going
to have to be equally attentive in making sure we
promote a strong safety culture right across the
board, whether it's environmental, science, NNSA.

CHAIRMAN WINOKUR: Now one of the things
that Mr. Bader spoke to you about and I know you
understand very well is this need for leaders to say
things and then follow up with actions. And one of
the potential opportunities for that might be programs
that the Board's been very supportive of, like
facility representatives, safety system oversight
officers. There's a lot of talk in today's budget
environment about cutting back and where cuts should
be made. Do you feel it's going to be important to
make sure that the people who are out in the field,
the boots-on-the-ground kind of folks who are looking
at safety, that at least that cadre of people be
strongly supported and that they get that message?

MR. PONEMAN: Mr. Chairman, I have not heard

any suggestion about -- although it's true that we are
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dealing in very challenging budgetary circumstances, I
have heard no suggestion that somehow the thing that
is expendable or less of a priority than other aspects
of our mission is the safety piece. So I would very
much expect our focus on safety and safety culture to
persist. And to the extent that we build in
mechanisms to support that, I would not expect them to
be disadvantaged relative to other mission priorities
of the Department as we go through these challenging
budgetary cycles.

CHAIRMAN WINOKUR: Well, I think your
commitment to that would be extremely important. I do
appreciate that very much. I have one more gquestion.

It's always something I raise, so forgive me. But
the mantra of NNSA is getting the job done. I've
always been uncomfortable with that. I believe it's
very much of a get 'er done. I've read a lot of books
and things. People don't think it's the best message.

It does not in my view, and I know you'll share
yours, provide the kind of balance we're looking for
between mission and safety. Do you have any thoughts
on that that you're willing to share?

MR. PONEMAN: Mr. Chairman, I actually have
not heard that as a mantra, but when I hear the

statement getting the job done, to me, I'm hearing
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safety. And to me, the reason is that safety is part
of the job. So when I'm getting the job done, I think
it's very clear in our little management principles,
you know, many of us wear on our lanyards that the
safety piece is integral to getting the job done.

So I would not necessarily see saying
getting the job done as something that is even
implicitly undermining a strong safety message because
precisely that safety is integral to our mission.

CHAIRMAN WINOKUR: Thank you. Dr.
Mansfield?

DR. MANSFIELD: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Turning the discussion back toward Hanford, when you
vigsited the site last year and in your recent visit,
would you comment on the change in your views and the
relationship of the change in your views to the Office
of Health, Safety, and Security studies? I mean, was
this a shocker to you?

MR. PONEMAN: Which one?

DR. MANSFIELD: Did you see change at
Hanford between the time you visited it last year and
your assessment now?

MR. PONEMAN: Well, I think there's always
change, Dr. Mansfield. I think there's always a bit

of surprise when you see a third-party assessment, and
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so we had in the last year and a half or so three
different snapshots, as I was calling them earlier.
The first was an earlier HSS report. The second was a
report you all had done. And the third was a second
HSS report.

I suppose that I found things to learn from
each of them, and because it was last in time and
that's therefore the one that's most important in
terms of our immediate action, and I noted this in my
opening remarks, I think the things that we found in
terms of areas of improvement in the second HSS report
were indeed for me an eye-opener. And it's not to say
that there weren't some positive things that were
found, but there were clear, clear areas identified
that needed improvement. So I would say I was
probably very much informed by that one.

DR. MANSFIELD: When the Secretary makes his
visit I believe it's in July for the town meeting at
Hanford, what do you think he'll think of how Hanford
has changed from the time these issues were raised?

MR. PONEMAN: I don't know that a specific
date has been set, Dr. Mansfield. One thing I know
about the Secretary is he is a scientist and he is
therefore very data-sensitive. So I would not presume

to project what he will think except to think that he
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will respond to what he sees and senses and hears. I
know that he is the kind of person when he is doing a
walkabout tour of a site, he has, you know, 360
sensory inputs in terms of there's a lot you can
learn, as you all know here, just by walking around a
site and seeing how things are neatly stored or not,
if there are dangerous areas that are not roped off
and so forth.

So I think he'll be using all of his senses,
and I'm sure that he's going to be listening very
carefully to what he hears. As I said a little
earlier, I will certainly recommend that he find ways
in which to hear directly from small groups of people
who can be assured of confidentiality. And I'm sure
he will want nothing more than to hear a very
unvarnished assessment of people with the bark off and
without any kind of worry about what anyone might say.
So I think he will take guidance from what he hears
from them.

DR. MANSFIELD: Okay. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

CHAIRMAN WINOKUR: Ms. Roberson?

VICE CHAIRMAN ROBERSON: Deputy Secretary,
we'll take a short trip in history and come back to

the future. We had lots of reviews relative to the
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WTP safety culture. We've seen lots of reviews,
whether it's our own, the two HSS reviews you spoke
of, their contractor reviews, their contractor
independent reviews, their construction health
reviews.

MR. PONEMAN: Right.

VICE CHAIRMAN ROBERSON: You've seen a lot
more than we've seen. And even though there are
common strings through all of those reviews, the
conclusions did diverge quite a bit. In your
implementation plan for 11-1, the construction project
safety culture assessments are going to be conducted
by HSS, but generally speaking, all the others will be
self-assessments. How will you assure yourself that
these self-assessments depict a real and objective
picture upon which decisions, informed decisions, can
be made?

MR. PONEMAN: Well, I would say, Vice Chair
Roberson, I would say there are two things. One is we
need to continue -- and it's in the IP, as you've
seen -- our own internal training so that the things
that I am testifying before you here today in terms of
safety being an integral part of the mission, not a
bolt-on and so on, is not just a platitude or a

talking point. It's actually how we ourselves view
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it. And so it will not do simply to rely on an
external third party to discipline that. The
discipline has got to start from within. The
expectations that we do view, as I was just telling
the Chairman a few moments ago, safety as integral to
and part of getting the job done and not in any way
subversive to that objective.

So we have to start right at home in terms
of the internal training we use. And I personally
have found a lot